SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2006-75-01265

ORA J	AC	'KSON	WEEKS
-------	----	--------------	-------

APPELLANT

VS.

FILED

MONTRIEL WEEKS, SR.

JUL 0 2 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS **APPELLEE**

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ALSEE MCDANIEL, MSB NO.

NORTH MS RURAL LEGAL SERVICES
P.O. BOX 858, 159 N. HINDS STREET
GREENVILLE, MS 38702
(662) 335-8203

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT ORA JACKSON WEEKS

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2006-TS-01265

ORA JACKSON WEEKS

APPELLANT

VS.

MONTRIEL WEEKS, SR.

APPELLEE

Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR'S DECISION AWARDING CUSTODY OF THE MINOR_
 CHILDREN TO APPELLEE WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS OR AN ABUSE OF
 DISCRETION IN THE APPLICATION OF THE ALBRIGHT FACTORS
- II. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING AND CONSIDERING THE LIST OF PRIORS OF TREMEIN EARVIN, A NON-PARTY, IN APPLYING THE ALBRIGHT FACTORS TO APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties hereto, Montriel Weeks, Sr., and Ora Jackson Weeks, are both adult residents of Indianola, Sunflower County, Mississippi and were married on March 18, 2005. They subsequently separated on June 30, 2005 (Record Vol.1, page 6). Two(2) children were born to the parties prior to the marriage, namely: Montriel Weeks, Sr., a male minor child, born May 1, 2001; and Maquirria Weeks, a female minor child, born February 6, 2005 (Record Vol.1, page6).

On October 19, 2005, the parties filed their Joint Petition For Divorce in the Chancery Court of Sunflower County, Mississippi alleging irreconcilable differences, and specifically reserving issues relating to the paternity, custody, and support of the two minor children herein. (Record Vol.1, page 5). At the trial of this cause on March 7-8, 2006, Appellant, Ora Weeks, presented evidence of Appellee's physical violence, harassment and verbal abuse against her, including: (1) breaking out windows in her apartment, while the children were present, and removing the furniture from the apartment, including the children's beds and furniture (Tr. Vol.1, pages 111-113; Tr. Vol. II, page 289); (2) calling Mrs. Weeks unsavory and profane names in public and in the presence of co-workers (Tr. Vol.1, pages 113, 151); (3) physically assaulting Mrs Weeks as she attempted to report to work at Dollar General Corporation, which resulted in Mr. Weeks being fired from his employment at Dollar General for workplace violence (Tr. Vol.1, pages 114-116; Exhibits Vol.1, pages 12-18); and (4) reporting an unsubstantiated complaint of alleged child abuse against Mrs. Weeks to the Sunflower County Department of Human Services (Exhibits Vol. 1, pages 19-22).

)

)

)

)

))

)

)

)

Appellee alleged at trial that Appellant was not fit to have custody of the minor children

herein based on her alleged adulterous relationship with Tremein Earvin, which allegedly affected the children emotionally. (Tr. Vol. II, pages 242, 252-56). Each of his witnesses presented testimony purportedly of adulterous conduct of Appellant, occurring for the most part after the parties separated in June 2005.

At the time of trial, Mrs. Weeks had full-time employment at Dollar General, as well as, a substitute teacher in the Indianola School District (tr. Vol. 1, page 107). She was living in a two bedroom apartment with the two children herein, a home that was described by the DHS social worker, Alyce Clark, as extremely neat and clean, very nicely furnished, with everything in order, and no evidence of emotional abuse of the children (Tr. Vol. 1, pages 24-25; Exhibits Vol. 1, pages 19-22). On the other hand, Montriel Weeks was unemployed, having been fired from Dollar General for workplace violence against Mrs. Weeks. He was living with his parents and was totally dependent upon them while he went to school and tried to find a job (Tr. Vol. 1, pages 12-16; 36, 48-49; Tr. Vol. II, pages 272-73).

In its Ruling, the Chancery Court made findings: (1) that Ora Weeks was not morally fit to be awarded custody of the children because of her relationship with Tremein Earvin; (2) that the children would not be in a safe, stable environment with Mrs. Weeks based on Mr. Earvin's criminal record; and (3) that the Court would not penalize Montriel Weeks for not having a job at this time because his family is supportive. Custody of the children was, therefore, awarded to Appellee, Mr. Weeks. (Tr.Vol.III, pages 321-23).

)

)

Appellant filed her Motion For Reconsideration alleging that the <u>Albright</u> factors were not properly applied.(Record Vol.I, pages 47-51). The Chancery Court entered an Order denying said Motion on June 28, 2006 from which Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The polestar consideration in child custody cases is the best interest and welfare of the child. While moral fitness of the parents is a factor to be considered in awarding child custody, it is but one of several factors. Awarding of custody is to be based on the totality of the circumstances as shown by the evidence.

In the instant case, the chancery court awarded custody of a 4-year old boy and a 2-year old girl to Appellee based primarily upon the moral unfitness of Appellant because of alleged adultery. The court's ruling placed too much weight on the moral fitness factor and disregarded evidence presented under the remaining Albright factors, and in doing so, impermissibly sanctioned Appellant in denying her custody because of alleged adultery. Where the trial court improperly considers and applies the Albright factors for determining the best interest of the children in regard to custody, an appellate court is obligated to find the court in error.

At the trial of this cause, the chancery court admitted into evidence and considered a criminal "priors report" of the individual with whom Appellant allegedly had an adulterous relationship, over Appellant's objections. This report was not authenticated as a public document and contained entries of not only alleged convictions, but also offense reports, against a person who never testified as a witness in the case. The admission and consideration of this document in applying the Albright factors was clearly erroneous.

Based upon the evidence, the award of child custody to Appellee was an abuse of discretion, clearly erroneous and should be reversed.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in child custody cases is generally limited to a determination of whether the decision of the chancellor is manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or applied an erroneous legal standard. Williams v. Williams, 656 So.2d 325, 330 (Miss. 1995). The polestar consideration in child custody cases is the best interest and welfare of the child. Albright v. Albright, 437 So.2d 1003 (Miss. 1983).

Where the chancellor improperly considers and applies the <u>Albright</u> factors in making a child custody determination, an appellate court is obliged to find that court in error. <u>Brekeen v. Brekeen</u>, 880 So.2d 280 283 (Miss. 2004) (citing <u>Hollon v. Hollon</u>, 784 So.2d 943, 946 (Miss. 2001). In <u>Brekeen</u>, the Mississippi Supreme Court overruled the chancellor's award of custody to the father based on ex-wife's adulterous affair. The Court held that the award was an abuse of discretion and that the trial court placed too much weight upon moral fitness and disregarded evidence presented under remaining <u>Albright</u> factors; and in doing so, the court impermissibly "sanctioned" ex-wife by denying her custody of the child because of adultery.

I. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR'S DECISION AWARDING CUSTODY OF THE MINOR CHILDREN TO APPELLEE WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS OR AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN THE APPLICATION OF THE ALBRIGHT FACTORS

It is clear under Mississippi authority that an award of custody of minor children is to be based upon the totality of circumstances as shown by the evidence, with the polestar consideration being the best interest and welfare of the child. Albright, supra; Moak v. Moak, 631 So.2d 196, 197 (Miss. 1994). An act of adultery alone is not determinative of child custody. It is only a factor to be considered. Brock v. Brock, 906 So.2d 879 (Miss. Ct. Of App. 2005); Breckeen v. Breckeen, supra, 880 So.2d at 283; Williams v. Williams, supra, 656 So.2d at 329; Albright v. Albright, supra, 437 So.2d at 1005. These authorities reaffirm that the totality of the evidence must be taken into account when making a child custody decision.

In the instant case, the Chancery Court of Sunflower County placed the great weight of its award of custody to Appellee on the moral fitness factor, finding that Appellant was not morally fit to be awarded custody of the minor children because of alleged adultery. (Tr.Vol.III, pages 321-323). The said ruling does not give due consideration to the evidence in the record to other Albright factors, including: (1) employment of the parties; (2) willingness and capacity of the parties to provide primary child care; (3) stability of the home environment; and (4) moral fitness of Appellee, as well as, Appellant.

)

At the time of the trial of this cause, Appellant, Ora Weeks, had stable, full-time employment at a Dollar General plant and as a substitute teacher in the Indianola School District. (Tr.Vol.I, page 107). She was living in a two bedroom apartment, with the two minor children

herein, a home that was described by DHS social worker, Alyce Clark, as extremely neat and clean, very nicely furnished, with everything in place, and no evidence of emotional abuse of the children. (Tr.Vol.I, pages 24-25; Exhibits Vol.1, pages 19-23).

On the other hand, Appellee, Montriel Weeks, Sr., was unemployed, having been fired from his job at Dollar General for workplace violence committed against Appellant, as well as, other infractions. (Tr.Vol.I, pages 12-16; Exhibits Vol. 1, pages 12-18). He was living with his parents, with no source of income, and totally dependent upon them for his support, while he went to school and tried to find a job. (Tr.Vol.I, pages 36, 48-49; Tr.Vol.II, pages 272-273). Moreover, Appellee had committed acts of physical violence, harassment and emotional abuse of Appellant as previously discussed herein. He had also been held in contempt of court for failing to pay child support for the minor children in the past and wholly failed and refused to provide any financial support to Appellant for said children from the date of separation of the parties in June 2005 until the trial herein in March 2006. (Exhibits Vol.1, pages 23-27; Tr.Vol.II, pages 296-297).

In considering the aforesaid evidence, the chancery court not only sanctioned Appellant for alleged adultery, but also, rewarded Appellee for not having a job, ruling that it would not "penalize" him for not having employment. (Tr.Vol.III, page 323). In point of fact, Appellee had been fired from his job at Dollar General due to his own misconduct in committing workplace violence against Appellant, as previously discussed.(Tr.Vol.I, pages 12-16; Exhibits Vol.1, pages 12-18). The court further disregarded the evidence regarding the other Albright factors. In these circumstances, there was clearly an abuse of discretion in the application of these factors in awarding custody of the minor children to Appellee. Breckeen v. Breckeen, 880 So.2d at 283.

)

)

)

WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING AND CONSIDERING THE LIST OF PRIORS OF TREMEIN EARVIN IN APPLYING THE ALBRIGHT FACTORS

In its ruling, the chancery court made a finding that the minor children herein would not be in a safe nor a stable environment if placed in the custody of Appellant, Ora Weeks. This ruling was based, in substantial part, upon the alleged criminal record of Tremein Earvin, the individual with whom Appellant allegedly had an adulterous relationship (Tr.Vol.III, pages 321-322). Mr. Earvin never testified as a witness at the trial of this case.

The "criminal record" that the court referred to in its ruling was an alleged Priors Report of Tremein Earvin that the court admitted into evidence over Appellant's objection. This report was introduced by Appellee through the testimony of Officer Bennie Milton of the Indianola Police Department. It was not printed on any official letterhead of the Department and did not contain any seal, affidavit, nor other attestation as to its authenticity. In fact, Officer Milton testified that she didn't know who generated the report, and she was not completely certain of the particulars of how it was generated. (Exhibits Vol.1, pages 40-44; Tr.Vol.I, pages 70-73). Additionally, the report contained entries not only of alleged convictions, but also of complaints and offense reports of which there were no convictions. Finally, Officer Milton testified that Appellee, Montriel Weeks, has a relative who is employed with the Indianola Police Department. (Tr.Vol.I., pages 72-73). In view of her lack of knowledge of who generated this report, its authenticity and credibility becomes even more questionable and should not have been admitted into evidence to avoid any appearance of impropriety.

)

The Miss. Rules of Evidence, Rule 901(a), provides:

The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.

Section 901(b) goes on to provide illustrations of such authentication or identification, including the "Testimony of Witness with Knowledge", i.e. Testimony that a matter is what it is claimed to be. In the instant case, Officer Milton testified that the alleged Priors Report of Tremein Earvin is consistent with prior incident reports that she has seen. However, she did not know who generated the report, and it contained no signature of a custodian of the record as to its authentication that it was a record of the Indianola Police Department. (Tr.Vol.I, page 73; Exhibits 1, pages 40-44). Consequently, the report does not meet the requirements for its admissibility under Section 901(a); nor does it meet the requirements as a self-authenticated public document under Section 902.

Based upon the evidence of record, the admission of the alleged Priors Report of Tremein Earvin was erroneous. The chancery court's consideration and reliance upon this report as evidence in ruling on the application of the Albright factors as relates to the safety and stability of Appellant's home. In fact, this ruling was contrary to the evidence in the record from a social worker with the Mississippi Department of Human Services. The testimony and report of social worker Alyce Clark was that Appellant's home was neat and clean, and there was no evidence of abuse of the minor children. (Tr.Vol.I, pages 24-25; Exhibits Vol.1, pages 19-22).

CONCLUSION

To disturb the factual findings of the chancellor in a child custody case, the reviewing court must determine that the findings and ruling of the court are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or the court abused its discretion. Where the chancellor improperly considers and applies the <u>Albright</u> factors for determining the best interest and welfare of the child in regard to custody, an appellate court is obligated to find the chancellor in error.

While the moral fitness of a parent is a factor to be considered in determining child custody matters, adultery is not sufficient in and of itself to deprive a parent of custody. To the extent that the trial court places too much weight on the moral fitness factor and disregards evidence presented under the remaining <u>Albright</u> factors, it impermissibly sanctions a parent by denying custody because of adultery.

In the instant case, the chancery court's ruling places great weight on the alleged adultery of Appellant and lack of moral fitness of Appellant in awarding custody of the minor children to Appellee. Said ruling disregarded, and effectively rewarded Appellee for: his own lack of employment due to his own misconduct; his lack of income and being completely dependent on his parents; his lack of moral fitness as relates to his violent conduct in breaking into Appellant's residence and in assaulting Appellant as she attempted to report to work; his disregard for the welfare of the children by taking their beds from Appellant's residence and failure to provide financial support for them.

)

When the totality of the evidence is reviewed in this case, it is clear that the award of custody to Appellee is clearly erroneous, and that the court abused its discretion by sanctioning Appellant for alleged adultery and disregarding evidence on the remaining Albright factors.