IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2006-TS-01265

ORA JACKSON WEEKS

APPELLANT

V.

MONTRIEL WEEKS, SR.

APPELLEE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

MSB NO.

RICHARD LAW FIRM, PLLC
207 MAIN STREET
POST OFFICE BOX 1404
GREENVILLE, MS 38702
(662) 332-4040

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE MONTRIEL WEEKS, SR.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2006-TS-01265

ORA JACKSON WEEKS

APPELLANT

V.

MONTRIEL WEEKS, SR.

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE CHANCELLOR'S FINDINGS MUST BE AFFIRMED AS IT WAS NEITHER MANIFESTLY WRONG, AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION OR APPLICATION OF AN ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARD.
- II. THE CHANCELLOR'S ADMISSION AND CONSIDERATION OF TREMAINE EARVIN'S PRIOR CRIMINAL HISTORY WAS HARMLESS ERROR, IF ANY, AS IT DID NOT AFFECT THE OUTCOME OF THE CUSTODY AWARD.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 1. The parties were married on March 18, 2004 and were separated on June 30, 2005. On or about October 18, 2005, the parties filed a joint petition for an irreconcilable difference divorce. Two children were born during the marriage: Montriel Weeks, Jr., a male, born May 1, 2001 (age 4, at the time of the marital separation); and, Marquira Weeks, a female, born June 6, 2004 (age 2, at the time of the marital separation).
- 2. This action was an irreconcilable difference divorce with child custody to be determined by the Court. However, the extraordinary facts and events surrounding the Appellant's adulterous conduct which occurred during the marriage and after the parties' separation were inextricably and directly related to the Albright factors the lower court was required to consider.
- 3. Most of the evidence presented at trial by Mr. Weeks was necessitated by Ora Weeks' blatant refusal to be truthful. In fact, the trial Court repeatedly cautioned and admonished Ms. Weeks throughout trial regarding her lack of candor, refusal to provide meaningful response

during examination, and combative demeanor. In fact, at the conclusion of trial, the court noted on the record Ms. Weeks' attempt to deceive the Court regarding her romantic relationship and living arrangement with Mr. Tremain Earvin (her paramour) saying it would have been to Ms. Weeks' advantage to be "open and honest about it." (Tr. Vol. 3, p. 321).

- Ms. Weeks Began Having An Adulterous Affair With Tremaine Earvin And Told Her Husband, Children, Extended Family, And The Community That Mr. Earvin Was Her Half-brother and/or God-brother So He Could Surreptitiously Become a Part of Their Family Unit
- 4. From the onset of her trial testimony, Ms. Weeks denied any sexual or romantic involvement with Mr. Earvin (Tr. Vol. 1, pp.121-22) or that Earvin currently or had ever lived with her.
- 5. While the parties were married and living together as husband and wife, Ms. Weeks told Mr. Weeks, her children, extended family and her local community that Mr. Earvin was her recently discovered half-brother and/or god-brother. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 139; Tr. Vol. 2, pp.269-71). For approximately five (5) months, Mr. Earvin would regularly visit the parties' in the marital home to socialize, get

his hair braided, attend a barbeque, and play video games with the parties and their two minor children. (Id.)

Earvin even bought the parties' minor children shoes while the parties lived as husband and wife. (Tr. Vol. 2, pp. 67; 165-7)

- 6. Ms. Weeks' mother was told by family members that Earvin was Ms. Weeks' play-brother (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 93-4) and was later told that Ms. Weeks and Earvin were biological half-siblings who shared the same father. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 97-8; p. 100).
- 7. Ms. Weeks' mother testified that based upon her common sense and observation she eventually determined that Ms. Weeks and Earvin were not play-siblings but rather were involved in a dating relationship under the guise of half-siblings. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 95-6). Mr. Earvin had surreptitiously become a part of the parties' "family."

Immediately After the Separation of the Parties, Ms. Weeks Allowed Tremaine Earvin to Move Into the Former Marital Home with the Parties' Minor Children

- 8. Ms. Weeks denied that Mr. Earvin had ever lived or even spent a night at her home; she claimed Earvin had only been at her home past midnight on one occasion. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp.125-6).
- 9. Ms. Weeks' neighbor, Purvis Modley, who lived in the apartment below her, testified that he first noticed Mr. Earvin coming and going as frequently as other tenants who lived at the apartment complex immediately after the parties' separation. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 200-9). Mr. Modley began to regularly notice both of Mr. Earvin's vehicles at Ms. Weeks' apartment overnight and Ms. Weeks regularly driving one of his vehicles. (Tr. Vol. 2, pp. 206-8).
- 10. Ms. Weeks' mother testified that Earvin would be at Ms. Weeks' home when she was not there and would sometimes be the only adult at home with the parties' minor daughter. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 96-7).
- 11. In fact, after the parties' separation, Mr. Earvin would be present at Ms. Weeks' apartment (the former

marital home) and would physically carry Mr. Weeks' minor daughter to him on <u>each</u> occasion that Mr. Weeks exercised weekend visitation. (Tr. Vol. 2, pp. 249-50). Mr. Earvin would also be present at Ms. Weeks' home on <u>each</u> occasion Mr. Weeks would return his daughter. *Id*.

Though Ms. Weeks was Awarded Temporary Custody Of The Minor Children, The Children Were Separated with The Parties' Minor Son Living With Ms. Weeks' Mother

12. The parties' minor child, Montriel Weeks, Jr., lived with Ms. Weeks' mother after the parties' separation. Montriel, Jr., would consistently stay with his maternal grandmother (Barbara Walker) throughout the week and weekends, except for the weekends that Mr. Weeks exercised his weekend visitation. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 91-2, 140-2). Mr. Weeks never picked his son up from Ms. Weeks' house when exercising his weekend visitation; instead he always would pick him up at Ms. Weeks' mother's house. (Tr. Vol. 2, pp. 249-50). After the separation, the parties' minor daughter continued to live with Ms. Weeks and her live-in boyfriend, Mr. Earvin.

Tremaine Earvin Attacked Ms. Weeks in the Former Marital Home With The Parties' Minor Daughter Present

- 13. Ms. Weeks acknowledged filing a police incident report stating that on January 22, 2006, Earvin committed an act of domestic violence against her by striking her in the temple with a closed fist causing blood to run from her head and causing her to fall. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 127-9; Exhibit Vol. 34-7). Ms. Weeks required medical attention for her injuries. (Id.) At the time of the attack, the parties' minor daughter was present in the home.
- 14. When Indianola Police Officer Bennie Milton responded to the scene, Ms. Weeks' sister informed the officer that Tremaine Earvin was the Appellant's boyfriend. (Tr. Vol. 1, p.62). Ms. Weeks also told Officer Milton and filed an incident report noting that she and Tremaine Earvin were in a "current dating relationship." (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 66-7; Exhibit Vol. 34-7).
- 15. Prior to the January 22, 2006 attack, Mr. Weeks was aware of Mr. Earvin's reputation of beating on women. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 248).

At Trial Appellant Denied Her Relationship With Earvin And Blamed Mr. Weeks For The Attack

16. At trial, Ms. Weeks continued to deny any dating relationship with Earvin. In fact, she blamed herself and Mr. Weeks for the attack explaining that, prior to the attack, Mr. Weeks told her information about Earvin and another woman which caused her to confront Earvin and "hit him first." (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 119-20; 152-4). Incredibly, Ms. Weeks assessed no blame to Earvin for an attack which required medical attention, law enforcement response and occurred with her small daughter present.

The Parties' Minor Children Were Adversely Affected Due to Appellant's Involvement with Earvin

- 17. The parties' minor son regularly referred to Mr. Earvin as his "uncle" and believed that his mother and "uncle" were "going together." (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 259-60, 267).
- 18. Mr. Earvin had whipped the parties' minor son and would regularly noller at him and hit him. (*Id.*) On two separate occasions, the parties' minor daughter behaved in

a manner indicating fear of Earvin. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp.252-3).

After The Separation, Mr. Weeks Moved Into a Stable Home Environment with a Strong Family Support System

19. After the marital separation, Mr. Weeks moved back home with his parents in a three bedroom home with front and back yards, and stable home environment. (Tr. Vol. 2, pp. 273-4).

20. Mr. Weeks' parents own and operate a daycare which is licensed with the State of Mississippi with three full-time certified employees. (Tr. Vol. 2, pp. 181-2). Mr. Weeks' father testified that he and his wife had been and remained able and willing to financially support their grandchildren and had already set-up a college fund for them and would continue to support them as needed during and after the divorce, including allowing the children to be reunited by both of them staying with him until Mr. Weeks completed college. (Tr. Vol. 2, pp.181-3).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 21. The Appellant challenges the lower court's custody award on two grounds, claiming: 1) the award of custody was clearly erroneous and an abuse of discretion; and, 2) the court erred in admitting and considering the prior criminal history of Tremaine Earvin.
- The Appellant's first issue of appeal is without merit insofar as the court thoroughly considered the totality of the circumstances and made express findings of fact on the record addressing each Albright factor. In sum, the court determined that the following Albright factors favored neither party or were inapplicable: age, health and sex of the children; continuing care of the children prior to separation; physical and mental health and age of the parents; emotional ties of the parents and the children; and, the preference of a child at age 12 (not applicable). (Tr. Vol. 3, pp.320-3). While noting that neither party was "model," the Court expressly determined that the remaining Albright factors favored Mr. Weeks, namely: willingness and capacity to provide primary childcare for moral fitness; stability of children; home both environment; and other relevant factors. (Id.)

23. Even had the court not admitted or considered Earvin's prior criminal record, overwhelming evidence existed which favored custody to Mr. Weeks. As noted on the record, the court's paramount concern was the children's best interest and not the Appellee's adulterous conduct with Mr. Earvin. The admission and consideration of Earvin's criminal record, at worst, was harmless error.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in child custody cases is wellestablished. These matters fall within the sound discretion of the chancellor. Sturgis v. Sturgis, 792 So.2d 1020, 1023 (Miss.Ct.App.2001). Therefore, when this Court reviews an award of child custody, the decision of the chancellor will be affirmed unless the decision is manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard. Roberson v. Roberson, 814 So.2d 183, 184 (Miss.Ct.App.2002). The chancellor's decision must supported by substantial evidence in the record. *Id.* there is substantial evidence in the record to support the Chancellor's findings of fact, no matter what contrary evidence there may also be, this Court will uphold the Chancellor. Wright v. Stanley, 700 So. 2d at 280 (Miss. 1997).

- I. THE CHANCELLOR'S FINDINGS MUST BE AFFIRMED AS IT WAS NEITHER MANIFESTLY WRONG, AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION OR APPLICATION OF AN ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARD.
- 25. The Chancellor's decision awarding custody was proper and in accord with *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So. 2d 1003 (Miss. 1983).
- 26. Contrary to the Appellant's assertion that the Court's custody award was based solely or primarily upon Ms. Weeks' adulterous conduct and the character of her live-in paramour, the Court made specific findings of fact on the record addressing each Albright factor, stating:

The Court has listened carefully to testimony over two days and has reviewed the Albright factors. We have two young children, male and The Court finds that the continuity of care prior to separation was approximately equal between Mr. and Mrs. Weeks. I find that the parenting skills are in favor of Mr. Weeks in that Mrs. Weeks has other priorities. I find that Mrs. Weeks even though she is working two jobs, she also has time for extra curricular activities not related to the children. father is not working at this time, but pursuing his education. The parents are of approximate equal age. The children are in good health as well as the parents. The Court finds that the children have probably emotional ties to both mother and father. As far as the moral fitness, the Court cannot find that Mrs. Ora Weeks is morally fit to have the children, nor that her home is morally fit. The Court has reached the conclusion by the evidence testimony presented here today that Mrs. Weeks has more than a friend relationship with Mr. Earvin fact they and in have a

relationship. She has played games with her family. She has played games with her husband. And for two days she's tried to play games with this Court when in fact it would have been to her advantage to be open and honest about it. things pop into my mind when I try to place these children, and it's safety and stability. Those were the primary issues over these two days that been thinking about. These two young children desire and deserve to be safe and live in a stable environment and I do not think they been living in a safe nor a stable have environment with Mrs. Weeks. But in fact I don't think they've been staying with Mrs. Weeks that In fact she has testified that the son lives with the grandmother and although she says it's for reasons of school, she then testified that the school called her and she could have placed him in school down here, but she didn't. The man that we've been here about for two days, Mr. Tremaine Earvin, has a criminal record and in more than one of the charges involves domestic violence and one of the charges is a domestic violence charge by Mrs. Ora Weeks. yet when she was on the stand, she was in denial that Mr. Tremaine Earvin had done anything to her and in fact tried to turn it around and say that was Mr. Weeks' fault that Tremaine Earvin attacked her. The court took a special notice that she has had her young daughter live in the apartment with her and Mr. Earvin. She has allowed this boyfriend to stand in the place of a father and she has done what this Court calls getting the cart before the horse. gotten involved with somebody before she has That is the reason we have been gotten divorced. almost two days hearing about Mr. here for Tremain Earvin. If Mrs. Ora Weeks had spent as much time being a mother to her children as she has spent being a girlfriend to Mr. Tremaine Earvin, we would not have been here for two days. This Court does not look favorably on any parent involving someone of the opposite sex in the lives of their children before they are divorced especially someone with a violent past. are articles almost every day in the Clarion about boyfriends abusing and hurting Ledger

children of the girlfriend in the home. paternal grandfather has testified that he and his wife will help Mr. Weeks with the children, are supportive of Mr. Weeks while he is obtaining his college degree and in fact Mr. Weeks will be a Senior next year and he is looking for a job at This Court will not penalize him because he does not have a job at the present time because his family is supportive. family owns a day-care that the children can attend. This Court finds it is in the best interest of these children for them to together and to be in the custody of their father and, therefore, Mr. Montriel Weeks is awarded custody.

(Tr. Vol. 3, pp.320-3).

NOTE: [The Chancellor's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, entered on or about February 1, 2007, was inadvertently omitted from the record on appeal. On this date, undersigned has submitted an agreed motion pursuant to M.R.A.P. 10 (e) leave for the clerk's office to supplement the record appeal to include said Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. For the reasons aforestated, Appellee provides the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in "Appellee's (Proposed) Supplemental Record Excerpt" and cites portions of said document by page number as indicated within that pleading].

27. The Chancellor, in her Findings of Facts and Conclusion of Law, addressed the totality of circumstances presented at trial with reference to applicable case authority, noting:

Consistent with Mississippi authority, this trial court looked unfavorably upon Ms. Weeks' volatile relationship and home environment with Mr. Earvin. Wright v. Thompson, 822 So.2d 1125, 1128 (Miss.Ct. App. 2002) (evidence of violence in the

home was, in part, reason for denying custody; Richardson v. Richardson, 790 So.2d 239,242-43 (Miss.Ct. App. 2001) (mother lived for two years with abusive boyfriend); Stark v. Anderson, 748 So.2d 838,842-43 (Miss.Ct. App. 1999) (child afraid of step-father).

Appellee's [Proposed] Supplemental Record Excerpt at 8.

Mississippi law recognizes a rebuttable presumption that custody should not be granted to a parent with a history of family violence which includes a single incident resulting in serious bodily injury. See, Miss.Code Ann. \$93-5-24 9(a). Moreover, the trial court is required to consider whether the perpetrator of violence has committed further acts of domestic violence. \$93-5-24 (9) (a) (iii) (6).

Id. at 9.

Conversely, this court found that Mr. Weeks could provide a more stable and healthy home environment that would serve the children's best interest. The existence of extended family that can provide daycare is a factor that weighs in favor of custody. *Copeland v. Copeland*, 2004 WL 2903690 (Miss. Dec 16, 2004).

Id. at 9.

28. The Appellant overstates the weight given by the court involving her adulterous conduct and conveniently minimizes the totality of the circumstances presented at trial. In fact, the Court specifically acknowledged that adultery, cohabitation or sexual conduct, alone, is not a reason to deny custody unless adverse impact upon the children is demonstrated, saying:

A parent's adultery, cohabitation or other sexual conduct is not, alone, a reason to deny custody. However, where such conduct is shown to have an adverse impact on a child, the trial court is empowered to deny custody to that parent. v. Carr, 480 So. 2d 1120, 1123 (Miss. 1985); Copeland v. Copeland, 2004 WL 2903690 (Miss. Dec. 16, 2004). This Court finds that the conduct of Ms. Weeks, namely: 1) cohabitating with a violent acquaintance; 2) causing the children psychological confusion, and 3) allowing the children, without good cause, to be raised separately are acts which caused and will continue to cause an adverse impact upon them.

Appellee's [Proposed] Supplemental Record Excerpt at 10.

See further, Cheek v. Ricker, 431 So. 2d 1139, 1144 (Miss.1983) (Cohabitation is relevant only to the extent it can be shown to affect the child adversely).

- II. THE CHANCELLOR'S ADMISSION AND CONSIDERATION OF TREMAINE EARVIN'S PRIOR CRIMINAL HISTORY WAS HARMLESS ERROR, IF ANY, AS IT DID NOT AFFECT THE OUTCOME OF THE CUSTODY AWARD.
- 29. The standard of review for the admission of or refusal to admit evidence is well settled. " '[A]dmission or suppression of evidence is within the discretion of the trial judge and will not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion.' " K-Mart Corp. v. Hardy, 735 So.2d 975, 983 (Miss.1999). For a case to be reversed on the

admission of evidence, "it must result in prejudice and harm or adversely affect a substantial right of a party."

K-Mart Corp. v. Hardy, 735 So.2d at 983 (citing Hansen v. State, 592 So.2d 114 (Miss.1991)). "To apply the harmless error analysis ... this Court must determine whether the weight of the evidence against [the defendant] is sufficient to outweigh the harm done by allowing admission of [the] evidence." Fuselier v. State, 702 So.2d 388, 391 (Miss.1997).

30. The issue of the admission of Earvin's prior criminal warrants little discussion as it did not affect the outcome of the trial court's custody award. Even absent Earvin's prior history, the court had substantial evidence, as contemplated by Albright (discussed infra), to award custody to Mr. Weeks. See, Bower v. Bower, 758 So.2d 405, 415 (Miss. 2000) (While finding that certain documents in a child custody case should not have been admitted into evidence because they were not properly authenticated as the party who sought their admission was not involved in their preparation or had personal knowledge of their accuracy, the Mississippi Supreme Court determined it was harmless error as it did not adversely affect any right of the aggrieved party).

CONCLUSION

31. The Chancellor's award of custody to Mr. Montriel Weeks should be affirmed.